1978

Blair Sorenson v. the Industrial Commission of Utah and Jeffery Lynn Nelson : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

Respondent Nelson sought benefits under the Workmen's Compensation Act for injuries which he alleges he suffered while performing certain projects for appellant.

DISPOSITION BY THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION

The evidence was heard by Kenneth Rigtrup, Administrative Law Judge, on March 15, 1976. The Order of the Industrial Commission was signed by Joseph C. Foley, Administrative Law Judge, on April 14, 1978 in which respondent Nelson was awarded compensation pursuant to the Workmen's Compensation Act. The Commission denied appellant's Motion For Review on June 19, 1978.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The appellant asks the court to reverse the order of the Industrial Commission or to remand the cause for a full hearing and determination by a single Administrative Law Judge

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant Blair Sorenson was, at all times pertinent to this case (February 1975 - August 1975), a full-time electrician at Hill Air Force Base (R. 99). In addition, Mr. Sorenson owned as investments ten pieces of real estate on which apartments or houses were situated (R. 126).

Respondent Jeffery L. Nelson was, at all times pertinent to this case, either a full-time student (R. 66), a full-time employee of various construction companies (R. 76, 77, 78), or unemployed (R. 77, 78). In addition, Nelson completed five projects for appellant at various investment properties owned by appellant.

In February, 1975 Sorenson met Nelson in a class they were taking together at the University of Utah (R. 71). At that time, Nelson was a full-time student looking for part-time work as a carpenter (R. 71). Sorenson, upon discovering that Nelson was a carpenter, asked Nelson if he would like to give him a bid on a fire-burned floor in one of Sorenson's apartments (R. 103, 104). Nelson stated that he would do the work for \$4.00 per hour, but Sorenson let the work out to an

independent contractor (R. 103). The cost of the work was covered by an insurance policy Sorenson had on his apartment building (R. 103, 104).

On February 22, 1975 Nelson and Sorenson painted an apartment that Sorenson owned (540 East Seventh South) and Sorenson paid Nelson with a check for \$18.00 (R. 34, 73, 107, 130). The painting, which took approximately five hours, was the first of the five jobs that Nelson was to complete (R. 34). The second project was in March, 1975 when Nelson helped Sorenson put a bathtub in an apartment (540 East Seventh South). That project took approximately one hour and Sorenson paid Nelson with a check for \$5.00 (R. 38, 115).

In April, 1975 Nelson moved into one of Sorenson's apartments (R. 30). After this point in time, all work done by Nelson was credited to an outstanding debt he owed Sorenson for rent. Sorenson was, in all instances after April, 1975, simply allowing Nelson to work off rent due by arranging projects for Nelson to complete (R. 107, 129).

On June 7, 1975, Nelson, using his own tools, worked four to five hours installing new sheetrock and soundboard at a Sorenson-owned apartment located at 1125 Princeton (R. 43, 44, 74, 106, 107, 256). Sorenson had met Nelson on the previous day at the Princeton location and Sorenson showed Nelson what work needed to be done (R.43). Nelson, having the necessary skills and equipment, completed the project by himself without any direction from Sorenson (R. 75, 256).

Nelson finished the Spring quarter at the University of Utah on June 10, 1975 and went to work for Bishop's Castles as a carpenter (R. 76). Nelson was employed there until July 7, 1975 (R. 76). Around July 4, 1975, Nelson helped Sorenson install a new kitchen cabinet in Sorenson's 1144 East Fifth South apartments (R. 78). The project was completed over several days with the work being done on a part-time basis (R. 46).

From July 7, 1975 to August 1, 1975, Nelson was unemployed (R. 77, 78). At the end of July, 1975 Nelson completed the fifth project that Sorenson had given him. Nelson and Sorenson painted one of the apartments in the structure located at 1144 East Fifth South (R. 47, 48). On August 1, 1975 Nelson went to work full-time with the Ron J. Stacey Construction Company, where he remained employed until August 15, 1975 (R. 51, 67). Nelson quit his job with Stacey believing that he would soon have another job as a carpenter with Kahley Construction Company (R. 86).

On August 27, 1975 Nelson undertook a project which Sorenson described to him the day before (R. 52, 122, 123). Sorenson told Nelson that the building at 1144 East Fifth South needed to be prepared for painting and that Nelson should scrape and wash the building (R. 88, 122, 123). Nelson, on August 27 and 29, proceeded to scrape and wash down the building in the manner and using the method which he chose. Nelson was not told by Sorenson how he was to complete the project or when he was

to work on it. Sorenson only instructed Nelson to complete the project (R. 49, 90, 122, 123).

On August 29, 1975 Nelson, while scrubbing down the apartment building, fell off the ladder he was using and suffered injuries to his right arm and leg, such injuries resulting in a claim filed with the Industrial Commission for workmen's compensation (R. 55).

Summarizing the circumstances surrounding the activities of Nelson and Sorenson, Nelson only worked for Sorenson on a part-time weekend basis (R. 86). Sorenson knew of Nelson's full-time jobs and the fact that Nelson was looking for full-time employment with construction companies during periods of unemployment (R. 91). Nelson was never told that there was any definite amount of work or projects available (R. 124, 144). Nelson stated that no definite time period was ever mentioned by Sorenson regarding how long projects would remain available to be worked on (R. 91). Nelson supplied his own tools when he was completing carpentry projects while Sorenson only supplied tools and materials for painting projects completed by Nelson (R. 256).

Sorenson worked full time for Hill Air Force Base during all times pertinent to the case (R. 99). In addition, Sorenson was attending the University of Utah as a full-time student (R. 124). Sorenson's 19 rental units on ten pieces of real estate are simply investments (R. 126). The minimum amount of upkeep required has been handled by Sorenson or

contracted out to independent contractors (R. 120, 132). (All references to "respondent" in Argument sections that follow are to Jeffery Nelson, unless otherwise noted.)

ARGUMENT

I.

THE ORDER OF THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION SHOULD BE REVERSED SINCE APPELLANT WAS NOT AN EMPLOYER AS DEFINED UNDER SECTION 35-1-42 OF THE WORKMENS COMPENSATION ACT

The Workmen's Compensation Code, Section 35-1-42, Utah Code Annotated (1953), expressly provides the following definition of an employer:

"Every person, firm and private corporation, including every public utility, having in service one or more workmen or operatives regularly employed in the same business, or in or about the same establishment, under any contract of hire, express or implied, oral or written, except agricultural laborers and domestic service; . . .

"The term 'regularly' as herein used shall include all employment in the usual course of the trade, business, profession or occupation of the employer, whether continuous throughout the year or for only a portion of the year."

It is the contention of appellant that the ownership and maintenance of his rental units is an investment and not a business within the meaning of the aforementioned Workmen's Compensation Code. The Supreme Court of Utah, in Sommerville v. Industrial Comm'n, 113 Utah 504, 196 P.2d 718 (1948), reached a similar conclusion. In that case, plaintiff, the claimant under the Workmen's Compensation Act, was injured while working on a building owned by the defendant and leased to another for retail grocery business. The defendant hired the plaintiff, who performed certain work on the rental property and in the

course of such work was injured. The Court determined that the defendant, who earned her livelihood as a restaurant owner, was not engaged in the real estate or rental business as that term is used within the meaning of the Workmen's Compensation Act, and stated:

"It is true that the property upon which plaintiff was working when he was injured was rental property from which presumably Mrs. Cook derived some income. But there is nothing in the record to indicate that she spent any substantial portion of her time in managing or operating this property, and it was not part of her trade or business within the meaning of the statute. It was a matter of investment. See *Clausen v. Dinnebeil*, 125 N.J.L. 223, 15 A.2d 205; *Ostile v. H. F. Kirks & Son*, 189 Minn. 34, 248 N.W. 283; *Ford v. Industrial Acc. Comm.*, 53 Cal. App. 542, 200 P.667; *Setter v. Wilson*, 140 Kan. 447, 37 P.2d 50; and Annotation at 50 A.L.R. 1176.

"This is not to say that one may not be engaged in two or more businesses, or a profession or trade and a business at the same time, and be responsible under the Workmen's Compensation Act in both or all fields of activity. Nor do we hold that the owning and operating of real estate for rental purposes may not, in some instances, be a business within the meaning of the Workmen's Compensation Act. Our holding is limited to the facts of this case, i.e., that where a person owns one piece of real estate which he 'rents out' to tenants, but does not either personally or by agent devote a substantial amount of time to the operation or management of such property, the owning and renting of such property does not constitute a business within the meaning of the Workmen's Compensation Act.

"Therefore, Mrs. Cook was engaged in the coffee shop business, and the building upon which plaintiff was working at the time of

his injury was wholly disconnected from and unrelated to that business. Since we have held that the owning and renting of this property did not constitute 'a trade, business or occupation', within the meaning of the Act, and since this property was in no wise connected with the coffee shop business, it follows that the services being rendered by plaintiff at the time of this accident was not necessary to, in furtherance of or a part of plaintiff's usual trade, business, or occupation, and, hence under the rules and definitions previously laid down by this court, his employment (if he were an employee at all) would be only casual, and therefore he would not be entitled to compensation under the act." (196 P.2d at 721)

The case further dealt with the question of whether the plaintiff's relationship to the defendant was that of an employee or an independent contractor. The Court in this regard found the applicant to be an independent contractor since defendant did not attempt to control the work in any particular manner, but on the contrary, merely showed the plaintiff and another what work she wanted done and left it entirely up to plaintiff as to the method or manner of accomplishing the desired result. The defendant, however, did supply all of the tools and materials needed for the job and agreed to pay plaintiff on an hourly basis. The Court, notwithstanding these facts, held:

"It is now well settled in this jurisdiction that the crucial factor in determining whether an applicant for workmen's compensation is an employee or an independent contractor is whether or not the person for whom the services were performed had the right to control the execution of the work. See the recent

case of *Christean v. Industrial Comm'n.*, Utah, 196 P.2d 502, reviewing most of the Utah cases on this question." (196 P.2d at 720)

An authoritative case concerning the issue of whether the renting of apartments is deemed to be a business within Workmen's Compensation is *Marsh v. Groner*, 102 A.127 (Pa., 1917). The facts involved therein are relatively simple. The defendant was a married woman residing with her husband in a house owned by herself, and in the course of enlarging and remodeling this home engaged the plaintiff to do some plastering work about the premises, which would have required at most a couple of days to complete. The claimant had been engaged in work for only a short period of time when the scaffolding on which he was standing gave way and he fell to the ground, sustaining injuries. The Court stated:

"It is an indispensable condition to his recovery under this act that the claimant show that he received his injury while engaged in the regular course of the business of his employer. Section 104 of the act reads:

"The term "employee" [sic], as used in this act, is declared to be synonymous with servant, and includes all natural persons who perform services for another for a valuable consideration, exclusive of persons whose employment is casual in character and not in the regular course of the business of the employer."

"We derive from this by necessary implication that only such employers are made liable under the act as are themselves engaged in regular business. This must be so if any effect whatever is to be given the exclusion clause . . . What gives rise to the question is the indefiniteness and want of precision of meaning of the word 'business' as it occurs in

the act. It is a word which embraces a wide variety of subjects, and, being without a technical or precise meaning, excluding any other, it may convey an entirely different meaning in one connection from what it imports when used in another . . . It would be a very exceptional person--we do not know how to otherwise describe him--who would not understand that the reference is to the habitual or regular occupation that the party was engaged in with a view to winning a livelihood or some gain. These objects are necessarily implied when one's business is spoken of. Eliminate them, livelihood and gain, and it is no longer business, but amusement, which no one ever confounds with business . . ." (102 A.2d at 128).

Clearly, the overwhelming preponderance of evidence establishes that the appellant in the present case, while the owner of several apartment units, operated such property at a loss in excess of \$4,000 for 1975. Appellant's livelihood and income was derived from his employment as an electronic technician at Hill Air Force Base. Therefore, it cannot be concluded that the renting of apartment units is any more than a passive investment when viewed in light of the surrounding circumstances establishing the limited amount of time spent by appellant in managing such units and the lack of income therefrom.

Numerous other states have determined that the mere owning of a building, maintaining it and keeping it in repair so that it may produce income is not sufficient to constitute a trade or business within the Workmen's Compensation Act. Settle v. Wilson, 140 Kan. 447, 37 P.2d 50 (1934), and Ford v. Industrial Comm'n, 53 Cal. App. 542, 200 P.667 (1921), wherein the Court

held that an owner who lets his house for profit and at irregular times when demanded has labor performed in the repair thereof is not engaged in the pursuit of a "trade" or "business" within the Workmen's Compensation Act. As the Court stated:

" . . . [T]he petitioner herein had no business other than renting the building for profit. Upon the authority thereof we can but repeat that where an individual invests his money in a house or houses which as owner he lets for profit, and at irregular times when demanded has labor performed in the repair thereof, he is not engaged in the prosecution of a trade or business, within the meaning of the act and upon which a charge as compensation for injury sustained by an employee casually engaged in doing such work can be imposed." (200 P. 668)

The Supreme Court of Minnesota, in Billmeyer v. Sanford, 225 N.W. 426, held that a woman owning rental property accommodating some eight or nine tenants was not engaged in business within the meaning of the Workmen's Compensation Act when the claimant, who was hired to perform certain work on such property, was injured. The Court specifically held that the owning and letting of these houses did not constitute a business. In addition, the Court determined that the plaintiff, who was engaged to perform certain work on the rental property on a daily basis for approximately three weeks, was engaged in "casual employment" within the meaning of the Workmen's Compensation Act. The Court stated:

" . . . A thing is casual when it comes without regularity and is of comparatively minor importance. It is usually temporary and of short duration. Where the employment cannot be characterized as permanent or periodi-

cally regular, but occurs by chance, or with the intention and understanding on the part of both employer and employee that it shall not be continuous, it is casual.

"Relator did not need a regular employee. She had some odd jobs to be done. They were of unknown but short duration. She was not carrying on any business or occupation. The employment was necessarily understood by both parties as temporary. It could not be continuous. It was a mere incident. It was an occasional irregular employment. The very nature of the work leads to the conclusion that the employment was casual. The work was of a casual nature. Where one is not employed in a business, trade, occupation, or profession, the employee is not within the act unless his employment is stable." (225 N.W. at 427)

The uncontradicted facts of the instant case show that respondent in the past was employed on a casual basis and had no reasonable anticipation of working on any continuing basis for appellant. In fact, the job in question was never completed, and no additional work of any sustained nature was performed by appellant on his rental property for the balance of the year after respondent's accident on August 29, 1975. Moreover, respondent admitted that he was actively seeking full-time employment and had an application outstanding at the time for work with a general contractor in this area.

Other jurisdictions holding that the mere renting and repairing of rental units is not a business within the meaning of the Workmen's Compensation statute are as follows: Clausen v. Dinnebeil, 125 N.J.L. 223, 15 A.2d 205; People ex rel Voelkel v. Browne, 52 N.Y.S.2d 822, 268 App. Div. 596. See also in this

regard 50 A.L.R. 1176, Annotation, listing those cases holding that an owner of rental property is not engaged in a business.

The Utah Supreme Court, in Morgan v. Salt Lake City, 78 Utah 403, 3 P.2d 510 (1931), was faced with the situation of whether a statute authorizing a municipality to collect a license fee from a private corporation or business was applicable to a person maintaining a room open to the public where cards were being played. The Court, in determining that this was not a business within the meaning of the licensing statute, held that:

"What ordinarily is meant by the term 'business'? It is a pursuit or occupation in which a person is engaged to procure a living. It is synonymous with calling, occupation, or trade, and is defined as any particular occupation or employment habitually engaged in for a livelihood or gain."

It is submitted that the issue of whether the renting of apartment units constitutes a business must be evaluated in light of the time spent by the apartment owner in managing the business and the income, if any, realized from such pursuit. In the event that a person is not engaged in the buying and selling of realty but rather in investing in land and real estate for income purposes, it is no more than a passive investment. This is buttressed by the fact that a relatively small portion of appellant's time is actually spent in the management of apartment units. In fact, appellant's full-time occupation requires approximately ten hours of his time and school requires 12 to 15 hours per week, leaving very little

time left for the management of another business.

When all of the facts and circumstances are viewed, it must be concluded that the renting of apartment units does not constitute a business within the meaning of the Workmen's Compensation Act.

II.

RESPONDENT WAS AN INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AS DEFINED UNDER THE WORKMEN'S COMPENSATION ACT

The uncontradicted facts establish that respondent, while engaged in work on August 27 and August 29, 1975, was performing work pursuant to an understanding that he would receive a \$4 per hour credit on rent which he was obligated to pay appellant but that the time and manner in which the work was to be performed was not controlled by appellant. The Supreme Court of Utah, in numerous cases, has held that the test of an employment relationship is whether the employer retains supervision and control over the work to be performed. See Weber County-Ogden City Relief Committee v. Industrial Com. 93 Utah 85, 71 P.2d 177 (1937); Overman v. Industrial Comm'n, 113 Utah 468, 136 P.2d 945 (1943); Auerbach Co. v. Industrial Comm'n 113 Utah 347, 195 P.2d 245 (1948).

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