1978

# Blair Sorenson v. the Industrial Commission of Utah and Jeffery Lynn Nelson : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE EVIDENCE CLEARLY SUPPORTS THE COMMISSION'S FINDINGS THAT APPELLANT WAS AN EMPLOYER WITHIN THE MEANING OF THE WORKMEN'S COMPENSATION ACT.

The Appellant devoted a substantial amount of time managing his apartments. In order to conduct this business it was necessary for him to keep substantial records regarding his income, expenditures, labor performed, hours worked, and allocation of expenses to the rental units concerned. (126,161,166-168) He had a substantial amount invested in hand and power tools and equipment. (38,47,51,78) He worked on the apartments himself, hired and supervised other persons and procured the services of independent contractors as needed. (46,48,53,166)

The Utah Supreme Court has defined the term "Employer" within the meaning of Sec. 35-1-42 to be a term which is "broad enough to cover all employment relationships". Ortega vs. Salt Lake Wet Wash Laundry, 108 Utah 1, 156 P. 2d 885 (1945). This definition is in accordance with the basic purpose of the Act:

"Construction of statutory definitions. The definition of "employer" contained in the compensation acts, or statements as to who shall be deemed employers, should be broadly or liberally construed, in order to effectuate the purpose of the legislation to afford compensation to an employee and his dependents, the intention of the legislature being gathered from a consideration of the whole act. The basic purpose of the act is the inclusion of employers, not their exclusion, and doubts of jurisdiction must be resolved in favor of inclusion rather than exclusion, . . . . 99 C.J.S. Workmen's Compensation Sec. 9

Appellant's rental operations were so extensive that it must be concluded that he was an employer within the meaning of the act.

Appellant relies on Sommerville vs. Industrial Commission, 113 Utah 504, 196 P. 2d 718 (1948) in support of his contention that his extensive rental operations are not a business and hence that he is not an employer within the meaning of the statute. The decision in Sommerville, however, is an exception to the general rule stated in the Ortega case and is to be confined narrowly to the facts of Sommerville. The narrow application of the holding in that case is indicated by the language of the Utah Supreme Court on Page 721 of the opinion. The Court said:

"Our holding is limited to the facts of this case, i.e. that where a person owns one piece of real estate which he "rents out" to tenants, but does not either personally or by agent devote a substantial time to the operation or management of such property, the owning and renting of such property does not constitute a business within the meaning of the workmen's compensation act." (Emphasis added) 196 P. 2d at 721

There is a substantial difference between the facts now before the court and the facts in the Sommerville case. For this reason Sommerville should not be controlling on the issues now before the court.

In Sommerville, a woman who owned a coffee shop also owned one other building which she rented out to a grocer. There was no evidence to show that she spent any more time in renting the building

than it took to receive and cash one check per month. She hired the plaintiff to perform some minor repairs on the rented building and after showing him where the building was, did not visit the work site again until after the work was completed. She did not supervise the plaintiff in any way, nor did she furnish him with any tools. Thus, her time commitment was substantially less than that of the Appellant in this case.

The facts in this case are very similar to the facts in Davis vs. Industrial Commission, 297 Ill. 39, 130 N.E. 333 (1921). In Davis the defendant was a hardware and paint merchant but also owned a separate piece of rental property with 15 rental units. The two plaintiffs were employed by the defendant to clean the outside walls of the building in which the rental units were located. They were injured when the scaffold upon which they were standing gave way. The plaintiff's were awarded compensation by an arbitrator. The Industrial Commission and the Circuit Court affirmed the award of the arbitrator. Upon appeal the defendant claimed that he did not come within the provisions of the Workmen's Compensation Act because he was engaged in the hardware and paint business rather than in the business of maintaining the rental units. The Illinois Supreme Court held inter alia that defendant's activities in maintaining the rental property also constituted a business within the meaning of the Workmen's Compensation statute and affirmed the compensation award.

Appellant also asserts that because he claimed a loss on the apartments that he was not in business. This loss is theoretical because current real estate values are appreciating at a phenomenal rate rather than depreciating. Although for tax purposes Appellant claimed a loss of \$4,273.00, in reality he made a tax free profit of \$6,411.00, the difference between his gross income of \$28,794.00 and his business expense of \$22,383.00. (161) Because of this claimed tax loss, Appellant also saved tax on a substantial portion of his government employee's income. (158) Appellant reaped a substantial benefit from his apartment and home rental business.

The ownership and management of Appellant's apartments and houses constituted a business within the meaning of the Workmen's Compensation Act regardless of net profit or lack of profit.

In Larsen, Workmen's Compensation Law, (1973) Vol. 1A, Section 50.44

(a) the rule is stated as follows:

On one point a fair degree of unanimity seems to have emerged in the absence of a "pecuniary-gain" requirement (Utah's Workmen's Compensation Statute has none) the concept of trade or business does not necessarily embrace the element of profit seeking . . . the test is not whether the employer is in business for profit, but whether he is in business at all. If he supplies a product or service it is immaterial what he does with his profit, or whether he expects or gets any profit at all. (Emphasis added)

POINT II.

THE GREAT WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE ESTABLISHES THAT RESPONDENT WAS AN EMPLOYEE AND NOT AN INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR WITHIN THE MEANING OF U.C.A. 35-1-43.

A leading Utah case has enunciated the rule as follows:

"When the employer retains supervision and control of the work to be performed, the workmen are employees." Rustler Lodge v. Industrial Commission, \_\_\_ Utah \_\_\_, 562 P. 2d 227, 228 (1977)

There was substantial evidence showing that Appellant retained control of every detail of the work to be performed by the Respondent. The clearest example of this is the way the Appellant supervised Respondent's painting of the 1144 East 5th South fourplex, the place where the Respondent was injured. Appellant told Respondent which sides to paint, where to begin, how to begin and what tools to use. (50,90) He furnished the Respondent with all of the hand tools, brushes, buckets, a ladder and paint. (52,89) He inspected the work. (52) He was not satisfied with the result after Respondent had scraped the walls with a scraper and wire brush and therefore directed him to remove surface with soap and water. At one point Respondent could not work because the Appellant did not have the equipment ready. Respondent worked for a wage of \$4.00 per hour.

The following two cases are examples of how this Court has applied the law when the facts were virtually identical to the facts in this case.

In Rustler Lodge vs. Industrial Commission, \_\_\_ Utah \_\_\_, 562 P. 2d 227 (1977), Plaintiff, a skilled drywall applicator, was hired by the defendant, Rustler Lodge, to drywall a storage area and the ceiling of a conference room in the lodge. The lodge was engaged in the lodging and restaurant business. Plaintiff and defendant came to an agreement under the terms of which plaintiff was to furnish his own materials and his own special tools. Defendant was to furnish a protective drop cloth and a ladder and was to pay plaintiff at an hourly rate of \$8.00 per hour. Plaintiff fell on a stairway while performing his services at the lodge and suffered injuries necessitating surgery. The Industrial Commission ruled that plaintiff was an employee of the defendant rather than an independent contractor. This Court affirmed, holding that the following factors were substantial evidence of control:

- (1) The laborer was taken over the entire job and shown what service to perform.

- (2) The employer furnished him a ladder and protective covering.
- (3) The laborer was not allowed to commence work on his first appearance.
- (4) He was paid an hourly wage. Ibid. at p. 229

It is also important to note in the Rustler case that this Court upheld the Commission's findings even though there were several facts, not present in this case, which militate against the finding of control. They are:

- (1) The laborer was to work only once for the employer. He was merely to drywall a storage area and the ceiling of a conference room.
- (2) He supplied all of the materials.
- (3) He supplied all of his own special tools to perform the work except for a ladder and a protective covering. Ibid.

In Capitol Cleaners and Dyers vs. Industrial Commission, 85 Utah 295, 39 P. 2d 681, (1935) a painter was hired by a cleaning and dyeing establishment for the one-time task of painting a smokestack. The day after the painter began work he fell and was killed. The Supreme Court affirmed the decision of the Industrial Commission awarding compensation to the dependents of the painter. It held that the painter was an employee and not an independent contractor because:

- (1) No estimate of cost or the time submitted to the cleaning company nor was any called for by that

- (2) All of the laborer's equipment and supplies were furnished by the company.
- (3) The laborer, a painter, was paid an hourly rate.
- (4) In all respects except the actual mechanics of painting the work was to be done under the supervision and subject to the direction of the employer.

Appellant relies on Sommerville vs. Industrial Commission, 113 Utah 504, 196 P. 2d 718 (1948) in support of his argument that the Respondent in this case was an independent contractor. Sommerville is easily distinguished on the facts. In Sommerville the Appellant merely showed the Respondent what work she wanted done and left the manner and method of accomplishing the work up to the Respondent. After Appellant showed Respondent what she wanted done, she went back to the coffee shop. She never visited the site again until the work was completed. Ibid. at P. 750.

The facts are vastly different than in this case where the Appellant worked alongside Respondent, furnished all the tools and materials, and inspected the work and even made him redo certain tasks.

Appellant also contends that because Respondent received credit on the rent that he owed Appellant at a rate of \$4.00 an hour that this was not consideration within the meaning of the Workmen's Compensation Act. In support of this argument Appellant cites Oberhansly vs. Travelers Insurance Company, 5 Utah 2d 15,

294 P. 2d 1093 (1956). The holding in the Oberhansly case is not

applicable to this case because in Oberhansly "there was no agreement to pay wages or salary." Ibid. at P. 1095. The Utah Supreme Court in the Oberhansly decision clarified the purpose of requiring consideration. It said:

"The purpose of the act is to provide compensation for earning power, lost in industry, and the only basis for computing compensation is the earning ability of the employee in the particular employment out of which the loss arises. In short, the term "employee" indicates a person hired to work for wages as the employer may direct." (Emphasis added) Ibid.

In contrast, in this case there was a definite agreement between Appellant and Respondent for the payment of a wage or salary which was \$4.00 per hour. The Commission used this agreed upon rate to compute the basis of the Respondent's earning ability. The fact that Respondent was to be given credit for his hourly earnings toward his rent does not change the employer-employee relationship. This specific designation fulfills the requirement called for in the Oberhansly case.

Black's Law Dictionary defines "wages" as:

"Compensation given to a hired person for his or her services . . . Every form of remuneration payable for a given period to an individual for personal services including salaries . . . rent, housing, lodging . . . any other similar advantage received from the individual employer or directly with respect to work for him." Black's Law Dictionary, 4th Ed. Rev., p. 1750.

Thus, the compensation received by Respondent was considered within the meaning of the Workmen's Compensation Act.

POINT III.

THE EVIDENCE SHOWS THAT RESPONDENT'S EMPLOYMENT WAS NOT CASUAL WITHIN THE MEANING OF THE ACT.

Appellant claims that Respondent's employment was casual within the meaning of U.C.A. 35-1-43. This court defined the meaning of "casual" in Utah Copper Company vs. Industrial Commission, 57 Utah 118, 193 P. 24 (1920). In that case a farmer was hired by the copper company at different times during the winter to repair an irrigation ditch that was used by the copper company for mining and milling purposes. After just three days of work the farmer received injuries which resulted in his death. The following language of the Supreme Court further describes the conditions of the farmer's employment.

" . . . there was no regularity of employment . . . At the time of the employment of the deceased nothing was said as to the length of time that such employment would continue. It was understood that as soon as the necessary repairs were made upon the canal such employment would cease." Ibid at p. 29.

Despite the irregularity and uncertain duration of the farmer's employment with the copper company the Commission granted an award to his dependents. The District Court affirmed. The Supreme Court affirmed the District Court holding that employment was not casual if it was necessary to the furtherance of the employer's business. Since the copper company needed the water in the ditch for milling and mining purposes, the repairs to the ditch performed by the farmer were necessary to the enhancement or furtherance of the copper company's business. Thus, his employment was not casual within the meaning of the Utah Workmen's Compensation Act.

Respondent's efforts in repairing and painting enhanced Appellant's apartment rental business. Respondent's work increased the rental value of the apartments, made them more attractive, easier to rent, and increased their rental life. In his treatise on Workmen's Compensation Larsen deals with the issue of the repairman as follows:

"Behind all these decisions lies one simple thought: Maintenance, repairs, painting, cleaning, and the like, are in the course of business because the business could not be carried on without them, and because they are an expectible, routine and inherent part of carrying on any enterprise." Larsen, Workmen's Compensation, (1914) Sec. 51.23

This Court in Capitol Cleaners and Dyers vs. Industrial Commission, 39 P. 2d 681 (1935), Supra, adopted the same rationale. In that case the Court held that the employment of a painter to paint a smokestack, although the job was of a one-time nature, nevertheless was not casual, because it was necessary to the accomplishment of the company's purposes and promoted its business. Ibid, at p. 681.

The conclusions based upon the facts in the order which is the subject of this appeal are all within the requirements of the Utah cases cited herein. The Industrial Commission should be affirmed if the fundamental purposes of the Workmen's Compensation Act are to be given effect.

POINT IV.

THE APPELLANT RECEIVED COMPLETE PROCEDURAL DUE PROCESS WHERE BEFORE RENDERING THEIR RESPECTIVE DECISIONS BOTH THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE, WHO ISSUED THE FINAL ORDER, AND THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION CAREFULLY REVIEWED THE FILE, THE MEDICAL PANEL REPORT, THE REPORTER'S TRANSCRIPT AND THE PRELIMINARY FINDINGS OF THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE WHO HEARD THE EVIDENCE.

The testimony of the witnesses in this case was carefully considered by Administrative Law Judge, Kenneth Rigtrup. After Judge Rigtrup heard the testimony in this case he resigned his position with the Industrial Commission to accept an appointment on the Public Service Commission. Thereafter, Judge Foley assumed responsibility for the case. The Medical Panel Report was not received until after Judge Rigtrup had left the Industrial Commission. (266).

The record shows that upon taking over this case Judge Foley carefully examined the file, the transcript and the medical panel report. (309) The affidavit of Judge Foley, which supplements the record on appeal, makes it clear that the file contained Judge Rigtrup's mental impressions, preliminary findings and conclusions.

At Appellant's request, by way of Motion for Review, the Industrial Commission made a further perusal of all of the evidence. The record shows that pursuant to U.C.A. 35-1-82.53 and 35-1-82.54 the members of the Commission carefully examined the transcript, the medical panel report and the file which had been

prepared by Judge Rigtrup. (332) The Commission adopted Judge Foley's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law in their entirety.

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